### FINAL

## BUSINESS PLAN FOR GIS REGIONAL RESOURCE CENTER DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATION

# East Idaho RRC

## Prepared by

## Idaho RRC Planning Team\*

\*Includes representatives of the Idaho State University's GIS Training and Research Center (GIS TReC) along with the Eastern Idaho Regional GIS (EIRGIS) and Southeast Idaho GIS Users' Group (SEIGUG)

#### Contact: Keith Weber, Director ISU GIS TReC (208) 282-2757 webekeit@isu.edu

#### With consulting assistance from: Croswell-Schulte IT Consultants and

#### **GIS Quality Design and Consulting**

Contact: Peter Croswell, President Croswell-Schulte IT Consultants (502) 848-8827, pcroswell@croswell-schulte.com

December 10, 2010



Regional Resource Centers (RRCs) are organizational components of The Idaho Map (TIM), Idaho's statewide GIS program. RRCs have the primary mission of supporting and coordinating GIS activities and users in specific geographic regions of the state, in coordination with the Idaho Geospatial Council (IGC) and the Idaho Geospatial Office (IGO).

#### PREFACE

For decades, Geographic Information Systems in east Idaho has been developing at a steady rate due, in large part to the efforts of numerous individuals within the GIS community. As a result, pockets of GIS infrastructure exist throughout the region. More recently, Idaho's GIS business plan identified an organizational component known as a Regional Resource Center (RRC) which was intended, to anchor state spatial data infrastructure objectives regionally. However, the exact mix of services and capabilities of each RRC was left for interested groups to define.

In September 2009, several regional groups were identified in response to a call for proposals by the Geospatial Information Office. These proposals identified geographic regions, overviews of GIS resources, and GIS practitioners within their respective regions that were associated with each proposed RRC. A December of that same year, a proposal was submitted by members of the east Idaho GIS community to the USGS/NSDI in response to a CAP grant opportunity. This proposal was selected for funding and as a result, a formal business plan for the East Idaho RRC was developed with the assistance of Croswell-Schulte IT Consultants and GIS Quality Design and Consulting. All documentation related to this proposal, including draft business plans can be accessed by <u>visiting the project's website</u>.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Business Plan Background and Purpose	
1.1 RRC Background and Business Plan Purpose	
1.2 Mission and Objectives for RRCs	2
1.3 Geographic Scope and RRC Status in the East Idaho Region	3
2. RRC Services, Users, and Business Justification	5
2.1 RRC Services	5
2.2 RRC Participation Categories	9
2.3 RRC Benefits and Business Justification	
3. Resource and Operational Needs for RRC Operation	12
3.1 Overview of Resources	
3.2 Office Space, Computer Hardware, and Office Equipment Requirements	12
3.3 Management and Staffing Requirements	
4. Recommended Organizational/Operational Model and Implementation Phases	15
4.1 Organization Type	15
4.2 RRC Organizational Structure	15
4.3 Relationships and Coordination with Other Organizations	
4.4 Operational Practices and Service Delivery	19
5. Implementation Steps, Timing, and Cost Projections	20
5.1 RRC Development Phases	20
5.2 RRC Implementation Steps	20
5.3 Implementation Responsibilities	
6. Financing Strategies and RRC Promotion	
6.1 Potential Funding Sources and In-kind Contributions	
6.2 RRC Budgeting and Financing Strategy	
6.3 RRC Promotion and Marketing	

#### LISTS OF FIGURES AND TABLES

#### <u>Figures</u>

Figure 1: Geographic Area of the East Idaho RRC Region	3
Figure 2: Management and Oversight Environment	.17

#### <u>Tables</u>

Table 1: Potential RRC Services	6
Table 2: Services Selected for Implementation for the East Idaho RRC	9
Table 3: RRC Core Administrative and Management Practices	19
Table 4: Implementation Tasks and Timing for the East Idaho RRC	22
Table 5: Responsibilities for RRC Development and Operation	33
Table 6: Possible Sources for RRC Funding and In-Kind Contributions	37

#### 1. BUSINESS PLAN BACKGROUND AND PURPOSE

#### 1.1 RRC Background and Business Plan Purpose

GIS Regional Resource Centers (RRCs) are organizational components of The Idaho Map (TIM), Idaho's statewide GIS program. RRCs have the primary mission of supporting and coordinating GIS activities and users in specific geographic regions of the state, in coordination with the Idaho Geospatial Council (IGC) and Idaho Geospatial Office (IGO). This business plan has been prepared through a project managed by the ISU GIS Training and Research Center (GIS TReC), funded by a Category 4 NSDI CAP Grant. With consulting assistance from Croswell-Schulte IT Consultants, business plan preparation was carried out with a project team that included personnel from the ISU GIS TReC, Eastern Idaho Regional GIS (EIRGIS) and Southeast Idaho GIS Users' Group (SEIGUG). In addition to this core project team RRC business planning has included input from GIS stakeholders from the entire state.

The planned purpose and roles of RRCs were originally explained in the 2008 *Strategic Plan for Development and Deployment of Idaho's Spatial Data infrastructure* (p. 29):

"...[RRCs] act as points of coalescence for GIS user organizations in different areas of the state and help to connect local activities with the statewide SDI program. They will be supported by existing institutions or groups (e.g., universities, existing regional GIS user groups) that have GIS resources sufficient to provide some support to users. They would provide a number of services and support functions, including: a) answering technical questions for users, b) providing some general "consulting" support and advisory services for organizations in the process of GIS development, c) training sessions, d) site for meetings and special SDI events, and e) aggregate and serve regional Framework data These centers can be established and put in operation over a period of time as they are needed and as resources. It is also expected that these centers will include staff and technical system resources. It is also expected that they will provide "virtual services" through the Web (i.e., Web-based information, links, contacts, blogs, etc.) that address the needs of users in specific regions of the state. The coordination and support now provided by regional GIS user groups will be a foundation for Resource Center development."

The above statement defines a range of possible roles for the RRCs throughout the state. This business plan responds to the particular needs of the East Idaho RRC as originally defined in the RRC proposal (see <u>http://gis.idaho.gov/portal/IGO/regions/ regions.htm</u>) and takes into account the following research, information gathering, and deliverable review activities conducted by this project, beginning in May, 2010:

- RRC business planning kick-off meeting, June 23 in Pocatello
- RRC discussion at the North Idaho GIS User Group meeting, June 28
- Comments posted to the "RRC Forum", a publicly accessible web forum (<u>http://idahorrc.lefora.com/</u>)
- Results of a Web-based survey deployed and managed by the RRC project team

- Preparation followed by a review and comment on a companion document, "Notes on Investigations about Potential Host Organizations and Outside Support" (<u>http://giscenter.isu.edu/research/Techpg/caprrc/pdf/RRC\_HostSupportingOrganizationFinal.pdf</u>)
- RRC planning meeting, August 10 in Idaho Falls
- RRC discussion, August 11 EIRGIS meeting
- Several RRC project review meetings conducted at key project milestones
- Individual interviews and email exchanges with project participants

#### 1.2 Mission and Objectives for RRCs

The East Idaho RRC shares the following mission common to all Idaho RRCs:

Be a vital component of The Idaho Map and enhance geospatial capabilities in the region.

There is a strong consensus that RRCs should play both a "bottom-up" and "top down" role. This includes improvements in GIS operations and coordination among GIS user organizations in the region and conveying statewide standards, policies, and opportunities to RRC participants.

RRCs are <u>not</u> intended to duplicate or replace programs and services provided by other organizations. Rather, the goal is to provide support and to collaborate with other organizations that make up the TIM program and stakeholder organizations (public, private, non-profit, and academic) to deliver services to and increase involvement of GIS users in their region.

The specific objectives for the East Idaho RRC include:

- Encourage and support the understanding of TIM Framework datasets and the adoption of associated standards and procedures for Framework stewardship.
- Encourage participation in and conveying of regional interests to the Idaho Geospatial Council (IGC-EC), Standing Committees, and Working Groups formed by the IGC Executive Committee (IGC-EC).
- Promote and enable mentoring, communication, and collaboration among organizations and individuals in the region.
- Provide an improved environment for communication, mutual support, and sharing of GIS news, applications, and best practices for GIS development and operation.
- In coordination with the IGC, IGO, and other RRCs, play an advocacy role to increase awareness and support for GIS by senior officials and decision makers.
- Establish a physical presence with necessary facilities (hardware, software, office space) to support RRC services (training, meetings, GIS services).
- Work to expand the use of GIS technology, the quality of GIS data, and the effectiveness of GIS applications and management to deliver increased benefits to users in the region.

- Support the development of and/or access to GIS technology for low population/low resourced local government jurisdictions, special service districts, and other organizations in the region.
- Create tools and a management environment that encourage and support joint GIS projects and partnerships, including multiple public, private, and non-profit organizations in the region and potentially outside the region (e.g., joint database development, GIS hosting services).
- Support efficient government-private partnerships and regional economic development initiatives.

#### 1.3 Geographic Scope and RRC Status in the East Idaho Region

The East Idaho RRC includes the following counties (Figure 1):

- Bannock
- Butte • Caribou

• Lemhi Madison • Jefferson • Oneida

- Bear Lake
- Bingham
  - Clark
- Franklin

- Bonneville
- Custer
- Fremont
- Power
- Teton

In addition, the following counties (shown with hatching in Figure 1) are included in the East Idaho RRC, though it is anticipated they may form a Central Idaho RRC in the future.

• Blaine	<ul> <li>Jerome</li> </ul>
• Camas	<ul> <li>Lincoln</li> </ul>
• Cassia	<ul> <li>Minidoka</li> </ul>
<ul> <li>Gooding</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Twin Falls</li> </ul>

The primary mission of the East Idaho RRC is to serve users in the defined region but these boundaries do not restrict RRC support for and coordination with GIS stakeholder organizations outside the region. There is strong consensus that the different RRCs in the state should work closely together on the development and provisioning of services and programs that they sponsor. Where appropriate RRC participants in one region should be able to take part in programs (e.g., a training session) sponsored by another RRC. Effective use of resources and a response to the needs of GIS users will require collaboration in planning and service delivery among all RRCs and the IGO.



Figure 1. Geographic Area of the East Idaho RRC Region including eight incubator counties that may form a new RRC in the future.

#### 2. RRC SERVICES, USERS, AND BUSINESS JUSTIFICATION

#### 2.1 RRC Services

This section describes a range of services that are planned for implementation by the East Idaho RRC. Table 2 identifies these services and presents the following information:

- Description of the service
- Resource Requirements: general description of staff and other tangible resources required to establish and provide the service

Table 1 describes a comprehensive set of potential RRC services which are candidates for implementation. Also, not all planned RRC services will be put in place initially after RRC formation. As discussed in Section 5, RRC services and programs will be ramped up gradually. Decisions on when to implement a specific program will be based on user needs and availability of resources. For maximum efficiency and best use of resources, it is very important that different RRCs coordinate their implementation and delivery of services in a way that results in a sharing of resources. A number of services depend on the development of Web-based applications (e.g., professional contact directory) this, like some other RRC services, should be developed and supported in one location using available server and network resources (e.g., managed by one RRC or by the IGO). Web-based services could be deployed with common access by the user regardless of the RRC. Access to information or services specific to one or more RRCs could be enabled by simple menu picks. Each RRC would update information to a central server, thereby eliminating the need to acquire and/or support redundant systems. Services appropriate for the East Idaho RRC are identified in Table 2.

Many of the services and programs defined in Tables 1 and 2 may currently be provided or planned by existing organizations (IGO, existing public sector organizations, university programs, and private sector companies). Including these for RRCs does not imply duplication or replacement of services and programs that are efficiently provided by these outside organizations. Rather, the RRCs will augment such programs and services of external organizations and collaborate directly with them to promote and support service delivery to individuals and organizations in their region.

Potential Program or Service				
A. Directory of GIS Contacts and Professional Networking Support	Compilation and ongoing update to a Web-accessible directory of Idaho (and perhaps out-of-state) GIS professionals. These contacts will agree to have their contact and basic experience and skill sets posted and agree to be available to Idaho GIS users that need advice and basic assistance in GIS development and deployment. This supports the concept of mentoring and mutual support among GIS user organizations. This Web service should be deployed on a statewide basis (single hosted site) by the IGO or a specific RRC) but participants from all RRCs would post contact information and keep this Web service up to date.	Minimal time or system resources		
B. GIS News of Regional Importance	This would be deployed as Web service which could be accessed to obtain news of interest to parties in the region. This would best be implemented at a statewide level (by the IGO or a specific RRC) since many news items important to the region will also have a statewide significance. It could be formatted as an e-newsletter or a monthly listing of new items with hyperlinks to sources providing additional information. News items would include such topics as: a) training opportunities, b) important industry announcements, c) personnel changes, d) grant opportunities, e) new projects, and f) IGO/IGC actions. While this would be statewide service hosted from one location, each RRC would contribute items.	Minimal time or system resources		
C. GIS Professional Labor Pool Management				
D. GIS Project/Best Available Practices Catalog	able Practices management) that could be reviewed and used by other organizations. Supports the concept, "don't reinvent the wheel". This Web service			
E. Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits	In coordination with the IGO and the IGC, RRCs will participate in activities to promote awareness of GIS with a focus on building support among senior officials and decision-makers. RRC participants will provide testimonials illustrating GIS benefits, participate in presentations at meetings, and provide support to the IGO and IGC in budget requests. RRCs will coordinate contact with senior management and elected officials in their region to garner support for GIS adoption and enhancement by RRC participating organizations	Moderate time requirements at selected times when advocacy is required		
F. Regional Framework Steward	A variety of coordination and support activities to support and facilitate Framework data stewardship—playing an intermediate role between Source Stewards (e.g., County and City GIS programs) and Framework Stewards assembling and updating statewide Framework data sets. This role does NOT imply primary data compilation and updating—it is a coordination and support role to assemble data from Source Stewards and submittal to state Framework Steward. This RRC role is appropriate for Framework Themes and Elements for which the primary Source Stewards are organizations in the RRC region (e.g., local governments). The RRC can accept data from Source Stewards and perform QA, edgematching between jurisdictions, reformatting, packaging, and submittal to the Framework Steward. An important role would be to support adoption and use of approved data standards by Source Stewards and assurance that submitted data complies with standards. This RRC function could provide economy of scale benefits by regional centralization of some data stewardship activities and would provide a simpler organizational structure for submittal of updated Framework data to the state level Framework Steward. Since Framework stewardship activities are specific to individual data themes or elements, it is possible that this Regional Steward role is put in place only for selected themes or elements. NOTE: This potential RRC service could involve quality control and quality assurance work to ensure that data submittals adhere to content and format requirements for the Framework Theme or Element. The assigned Framework Steward would perform standard QA checks as part of the established horizontal and vertical integration processes. The option is open for the RRC to work with private contractors that may assume roles for any data stewardship activities.	GIS data skills, computer hardware, and GIS		

#### Table 1: Potential RRC Services

#### Table 1: Potential RRC Services (con't)

		-
G. GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update	Technical services involving the compilation of GIS data sets. This may involve field data collection, scanning/digitizing from hardcopy sources, integration/formatting of existing automated sources for the development and/or update of Framework or non-Framework GIS datasets. It is expected that a considerable amount of GIS data compilation will be carried out by organizations in the region (or through contractors that they hire) but there may be some opportunities to use RRC resources for certain GIS database development projects (possible in partnerships with private data conversion firms). It is expected that local government jurisdictions in the region with active GIS programs will compile and update Framework data and play a Source Steward role for maintenance of statewide Framework datasets (possibly with RRC coordination as a Regional Framework Source Steward). But lower resourced local governments or special service districts will require RRC support (perhaps with services provided by private contractors) to these lower population jurisdictions. In addition, there may be special projects or non-Framework data, needed by RRC users for which the RRC can play a role.	Need dedicated staff with GIS data skills, computer hardware, and GIS software
H. Support/ Encourage Adoption of TIM Standards and Policies	Designated RRC representatives track and support the development and approval of GIS standards and policies (approval by IGC and ITRMC). Includes raising awareness and understanding of standards and policies among GIS users in the region and supporting their practical adoption and use. Requires participation in standards review and meetings. RRCs will play a role in identifying and enlisting participants (from the region) in standards and policy development activities and in presenting ideas for IGC consideration. Also, the RRC may evaluate, prepare, and adopt GIS data standards (non-Framework) or standard practices and policies that apply specifically to participants in the RRC region. This is complemented by Program N calling for active involvement in IGC standards development by organizations in the region.	Moderate staffing requirements needed to participate in standards development and their adoption by RRC participating organizations
I. Organize/Host GIS Meetings and Events	Support in planning and organizing GIS meetings and events directed mainly at people and organizations inside the RRC region. These may be project meetings, training sessions, workshops, etc. This includes scheduling, identifying and lining up facilities, promotion, registration services, establishing electronic access environment, etc. This may include events sponsored by the RRC or events sponsored by another organization (University group, vendor) for which the RRC provides support services.	Varies depending on the number of events
J. Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement	Work with regional partners (mainly local governments) to prepare technical specifications and procurement documents for GIS products and services from the private sector. Also support local governments in evaluation of proposals and selection of contractors and vendors. This may include procurement of GIS database services, software procurement, application development services, Web hosting services, etc. The RRC may use contracted services in support of this service.	Requires access to library of template specifications and RRC person in "consultant role"
L. Joint Project Negotiation and Management Support	Provide facilitation for joint projects involving RRC participating organizations in the region. This may include support in negotiations with GIS service providers and contract preparation for GIS services (mainly database development) that involve multiple jurisdictions/organizations in the region. Follow this with project management support (contract management, review/approval of deliverables, status reporting, etc.) on behalf of the project participants.	Moderate—need RRC person with technical knowledge and project management skills
and Provide GIS like the ESRI Virtual Campus). In addition, the RRC could plan, organize, and conduct training sessions. This potential service is not meant to replace training programs and opportunities provided by existing organizations. The RRC training and organization role would involve		Moderate-requires trainers, training materials and facilities for training sessions
N. Provide Regional Representation on IGC and Communication with IGO	Ensure that representatives from the region participate on the Idaho Geospatial Council (IGC), on the IGC Executive Committee as appropriate, and maintain regular communications with the IGO to keep abreast of developments impacting TIM, and play an advocacy role for TIM initiatives impacting the region. According to By-Laws IGC participation is open and Executive Committee members are elected. There are reserved Executive Committee seats for GIS TreC and the "Geospatial Clearinghouse" (INSIDE Idaho). The By-Laws call for remaining seats to be filled by designated stakeholder organization categories (state agencies, federal agencies, local government, tribal government, utility, private sector). RRC representatives should attend IGC meetings and propose candidates for Executive Committee seats.	Moderate

O. Grant Research Application Preparation, and Administration	ation Preparation, support TIM and GIS programs in the region (and for the state as a whole). Participate in the preparation of grant applications (with the	
P. Hosting GIS Data and Services*	The provision of hosting services for organizations in the region—particularly small jurisdictions which are not maintaining GIS infrastructure or data. Hosting would include data (and perhaps data update services), required software, and applications for Web-based access to "subscribers" in the region. One option, in addition to the RRC providing hosted services is to act as a "broker" to help plan hosted services and engage private service providers to support user organizations in the region. Planning for hosted data or services should consider the possibility of using "cloud computing" which would use Web-based systems and software maintained by another organization (e.g., private company with data center and software services), thereby reducing or eliminating the need to maintain hardware and software. This potential RRC service does not imply a replacement of hosting services already provided by another public or private organization. Hosting services would only be pursued in cases where a needed service is not conveniently and cost-effectively provided by another organization. In such cases, potential opportunities for the RRC to collaborate with other organizations (including other RRCs) or private sector companies should be considered.	Would require server, SW, high-speed network and system admin support. Use of Cloud-based services reduces in-house needs but would require service fees.
Q. Designing/ Developing Web Services and Facilitation of Technology Transfer Involves a service to design and deploy GIS-based Web services for any organization in the region (and potentially for users outside the region). This work may result in applications installed on the user's system or providing them in a hosted environment. RRC personnel may participate in Web service design and deployment with or without involvement of private firms although it should noted that effective private facilitation of Technology Transfer Transfer Involves a service to design and deployment with or without involvement of private firms although it should noted that effective private function—providing information about successful applications and GIS applications. Design and development of Web services is not considered to be a core service of the RRC but could take place under special circumstances. The RRC could help to set-up and manage application development projects with private sector contractors (particularly in cases where the project results would be used by multiple organizations in the RRC region).		personnel with GIS

\*Hosting data or services could make use of computer hardware, software, and network infrastructure owned and maintained by the RRC or managed by a cooperating organization. Identifying this as a potential RRC service is not intended to duplicate such services provided by other organizations (e.g., ISU GIS TReC) but implies coordination and collaboration. There is also an opportunity to provide such services using hardware and software provided by separate data center (under a lease or subscription agreement) or user of emerging "cloud" services in which the RRC, for a fee, taps into server and software services by a cloud provider. Under these environments where the hardware and software is not directly managed by the RRC, the RRCs role would be one of management and oversight.

#### Table 2: Services Selected for Implementation for the East Idaho RRC

Potential Program or Service	Priority*	Implementation/Operation Issues	
A. Directory of GIS Contacts and Professional Networking Support	4-5	Work with the IGO and personnel in other regions to carry out a design and creation of a Web service. Need to identify a physical server and	
B. GIS News of Regional Importance	3-4	site for support of this Web service (e.g. State Department of Administration, ISU)	
C. GIS Professional Labor Pool Management	1	Not being considered for implementation in foreseeable future	
D. GIS Project/Best Practices Catalog	5	See comments above for Services A and B.	
E. Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits	4-5	Carry out in coordination with IGC and regional GIS user groups. Take opportunities to demonstrate benefits to senior officials.	
F. Regional Framework Steward	4-5	Maintain involvement in the Framework Stewardship planning process	
G. GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update	4	being carried out by the IGO. Support involvement of Source Stewards in the region and identify cases in which efficiencies can be provided by the RRC (performing data updates for multiple jurisdictions).	
I. Support/ Encourage Adoption of TIM Standards and Policies	4-5	Ensure the RRC members have formal role on work groups and committees established by the IGC.	
J. Organize/Host GIS Meetings and Events	3-4	Provide information to RRC members about the availability of facilities to hold meetings and events. Establish a fixed meeting schedule (e.g., each quarter) to report on RRC status and get input from members and interested parties.	
K. Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement	3-4	Early after RRC activation, identify specific projects with funding for	
L. Joint Project Negotiation and Management Support	3-4	which the RRC may play a planning and coordination role.	
M. Coordinate, Promote, and Provide GIS Training and Education		The ISU GIS TreC will be the primary provider of GIS training. Involve RRC members identifying training needs and establishing a training	
-Support training provided by other organizations:	4	program for the next year. Work with other educational institutions, GIS vendors, professional associations, and other parties in the providing the	
-RRC plans and provides training:	2	training (e.g., Intermountain GIS conference in March of 2011)	
N. Provide Regional Representation on IGC and Communication with IGO	5		
O. Grant Research Application Preparation, and Administration	4	Examine possible support from grant researchers in ISU and in the Stat Department of Commerce for grant research and writing. RRC manage should sign up for automatic notifications of federal grant opportunities from www.grants.gov.	
P. Hosting GIS Data and Services	3-4		
Q. Designing/ Developing Web Services and Facilitation of Technology Transfer	3		

\*Subjective indication of importance and appropriateness for the East Idaho RRC. A score of "5" means very high importance and a score of "1" indicates low importance and that this service or program should not be strongly considered for RRC operations. Priority scores reflect input from multiple project participants. High scores are assigned to those services and programs which should be considered for early implementation.

#### 2.2 RRC Participation Categories

Services provided by the RRC need to be defined in the context of people and organizations that are providing RRC services and support and those using those services. Any organization or individual should be allowed to participate in and use of RRC programs and services. This includes any public, private, or non-profit organizations inside and outside of the RRC region. There will be

one formal category of RRC participation referred to as "*RRC Member*". This includes people and organizations, inside the RRC region (including all GIS stakeholders including local government jurisdictions, tribal governments, state and federal agencies with a presence in the region, utility organizations, regional agencies and special service districts, private companies, universities, and the general public). These members, at a minimum, would be identified on a contact list maintained by the RRC, would receive basic services (e.g., access to Web-based services like a contact directory, GIS news), and which may chose to use other RRC services. Membership will be voluntary but all public, private, and non-profit organizations in the region, with an interest in GIS, will be encouraged to register as members and to actively participate in RRC activities.

Non-member individuals and organizations can use RRC services and participate in RRC programs according to the terms established by the RRC. This may include:

- People or organizations inside the region which are not currently registered RRC members but still have an interest in using RRC services and programs.
- People or organizations outside the RRC region which use RRC services and programs.
- Public or private organizations that provide monetary or non-monetary tangible support to the RRC, normally through a formal agreement.
- Service providers, including private vendors, consultants, or contractors or non-profit organizations which provide products and services to the RRC (through a contract or purchase agreement).

#### 2.3 RRC Benefits and Business Justification

Participants in the RRC planning process have identified a large range of tangible and intangible benefits that the RRC can help deliver. In large part, these benefits reflect those already identified in the 2009 *Statewide SDI Business Plan* (Section 3,

<u>http://gis.idaho.gov/portal/IGO/stratplan.htm</u>). Some suggestions of high-priority GIS application areas, in which the RRC could play a role, include emergency services planning and response, election consolidation, economic development, water rights management, transportation and utility asset management, floodplain delineation, real property appraisal, and agricultural land management.

#### Tangible Benefits:

- Reduction in staff time for processing data updates for Framework Stewardship
- Reduction in cost and staff time in developing/deploying GIS applications (through sharing or apps and expertise)
- Cost savings through economy of scale in joint GIS database or application development projects
- Improved position for submitting and getting grant awards for activities of interest to RRC participants
- Improved and cost-effective services for GIS data/application hosting for low-population jurisdictions without active GIS programs
- Provides better position from which to apply for and receive grant awards that target local communities and regional conditions

Intangible Benefits:

- More direct access to senior officials in the region—increasing awareness and support for GIS
- Effective way for regional participants to voice their needs and participate in IGO and IGC programs—better assurance that regional needs will be taken into account
- RRC role in GIS data and service hosting promises to increase access to GIS technology by small jurisdictions (low population counties and cities)
- Quicker GIS program development and deployment through access to best practices and professional networking enabled by the RRC
- Support and oversight on geographic data standards improves opportunities for data sharing and database integration
- Support for adoption of standards resulting in an improved environment for sharing data among RRC participants
- Provides a basis for cross jurisdictional economic development programs

#### 3. RESOURCE AND OPERATIONAL NEEDS FOR RRC OPERATION

#### 3.1 Overview of Resources

Resources for RRC operation include all funding, staff, and tangible commodities necessary for RRC operation:

- a) Office location and space: including furniture, office supplies, and other amenities),
- b) Computer systems and equipment: Servers, desktop or laptop computers, peripheral devices, networks, software, copy machine, projection units, etc. This category also includes hardware and software maintenance and support service contracts.
- c) Personnel: Management and administrative support personnel and technical/professional staff.
- d) Funding: Monetary contributions and support for RRC development and operation

Information gathering conducted for this business plan preparation indicates that there is a general consensus that each RRC needs a physical location and facilities from which RRC operations are managed and services are provided. However, there is an acknowledgment that limitations on funding, at least initially, will limit the scope of RRC operations and the facilities and staff that can be supported. For this reason three key principles will guide the establishment of the RRC and offering of RRC services:

- RRC development should follow a careful, incremental approach. Put in place high-priority and lower cost services first and gradually add additional resources and services. A general phasing for the East Idaho RRC development is explained in Section 5.
- Establish the RRC as a program managed by an existing organization rather than creating a new organization. Section 4 explains organizational options and the recommended approach for the East Idaho RRC.
- Avoid an over-reliance on permanent, salaried RRC management or technical personnel but use available services provided by a "host organization" of the RRC, volunteer time, and non-traditional staffing options. Section 3.3 explains some recommended options.

#### 3.2 Office Space, Computer Hardware, and Office Equipment Requirements

Space and facility requirements will change over time as RRCs evolve and expand their service provision. It is assumed that RRCs will use facilities of a host organization—with necessary arrangements for cost reimbursement consistent with the policies of the host organization and terms established for RRC hosting. At a minimum, each RRC will require the following:

**Server(s)**: Access to a Web Server (mid-range Windows-based server) and, ideally an application and/or database server (behind a firewall) with sufficient database storage space for GIS data, orthoimagery, and database requirements.

**Network Access**: High Speed network link for external Web-based transactions and local area network access (wired or WiFi) at the RRC site.

Server Software: Server software license requirements, in addition to operating system, network management, and Web Server software include: a) full Microsoft Office Suite and

other document-based software (e.g., Acrobat), b) Web site design and management software c) database Management software (SQL Server), d) ESRI ArcGIS Server, e) Additional serverbased GIS or image processing software as needed for project work, f) additional non-GIS server-based analysis, modeling, visualization, or other application software needed to support RRC projects.

**Desktop Computers**: A limited number of high-end desktop computers with sufficient processing speed, memory, graphics processing, and large display screen to handle computationally intensive GIS, image processing, and modeling tasks. The Desktop computers should be loaded with the full ArcGIS desktop suite, select ArcGIS extension packages, and other desktop GIS, image processing, or spatial analysis software as needed.

**Peripheral Computer Devices**: At a minimum, a page size (letter, legal size) monochrome laser printer or multi-function device (print, scan, fax, copy) should be available. Specific RRC services will benefit from access to a large format (E-size) color ink jet plotter and/or a large format scanner.

**Meeting Room Facilities**: A meeting room with table, chairs, whiteboard and ideally equipped with desktop computer, projection device, network links for use in group meetings and training sessions. Availability of desktop computers for training would be beneficial.

**Office Space**: Limited space (cubicles or enclosed offices with desks of table) for RRC employees or temporary project workers.

**Office Equipment and Supplies**: At a minimum, a copy machine (preferably a digital networked copy/printing device) should be available and there should be a source of basic office supplies.

**GIS Library**: Each RRC should have access to a library of references that support GIS management and operations. The ideal library would combine hardcopy materials (e.g., books, copies of appropriate trade journals, white papers) with resources in digital form (electronic publications, computer-based GIS training tools), and a computer for searching available resources and for accessing Web-based sources.

As already mentioned, the degree to which the RRC can make use of facility, computer, and equipment resources of an existing organization, the more efficient it will be. It is expected that, as services expand with a growing demand, increased funding will be available for expansion of physical resources. It is assumed that existing system resources of the ISU GIS TreC in Pocatello and potentially at the ISU Geosciences facilities at the University Place campus will support initial RRC operations.

#### 3.3 Management and Staffing Requirements

#### 3.3.1 RRC Management

Each RRC should have a manager with the responsibility to oversee RRC set-up and development, staff recruitment, work delegation and monitoring, handling of legal and financial matters, exploring and initiating new projects, and preparation of status reports. This manager is also the main interface with the IGO and IGC. In addition, this person or another management level person needs to play a role in RRC marketing and promotion—to raise awareness about the RRC, sign-up additional participants and associates, investigate and help secure new funding sources. Initially, it

is expected that this management role will require about a .25 full time equivalent (FTE) but is expected to grow over time—perhaps to the point where a full-time manager is required.

#### 3.3.2 Administrative Support

This function includes standard office administrative work including receptionist duties handling and routing communications, setting up logistics and facilities for meetings, training sessions and other events, clerical tasks, inventorying and ordering supplies, and providing other support to management personnel and staff.

#### 3.3.3 Technical Personnel

This staffing category includes any personnel who provide technical or operational support for RRC activities and projects. The main required skills include: a) Server/network administration and monitoring, b) Web site design and maintenance, c) GIS database design and development, d) GIS software and application development and use, e) technical training and communications, f) technical project management. The specific levels of staffing to fulfill these roles will begin modestly but grow overtime.

#### 3.3.4 Options for RRC Management and Staff

With the expectation that initial and possibly ongoing funding for RRC operations will be limited, filling RRC staff roles should not rely on full-time dedicated positions. Operational and cost efficiency calls for maximum use of the following staffing approaches:

- <u>Use of resources from the "host organization"</u>: To the extent possible, existing personnel of host organization (ISU GIS TreC) should fill RRC management, administrative support, and technical staff—addressing requirements for additional funding to cover RRC activities using available sources.
- <u>Volunteer time</u>: RRC operations, as part of The Idaho Map (TIM) program will always need and benefit from the donation of time from GIS professionals in member organizations (any public, private, or non-profit organization). This is occurring now through the regional user group and participation of GIS professionals on TIM Committees and Working Groups. There is a possibility also of creation of an inter-governmental reimbursement mechanism in which one RRC Participant uses, on a short-term basis, hours from a GIS professional in another Participant organization.
- <u>Student Interns</u>: Employment of qualified undergraduate or graduate students from any college or university, on a short-term basis (for a brief project) or in a longer-term co-op or internship program. Costs for student labor could range from no-cost to modest hourly pay rates. Such programs work best when there is a clear agreement with the college or university and when the experience and skills of candidates may be reviewed in the selection process.
- <u>Donated Services from the Private Sector</u>: In some cases, GIS and IT service vendors and consultants may be interested in providing donated services or support for an RRC project.
- <u>Paid Contract/Project-based Personnel</u>: When an RRC sponsored or managed project is supported with appropriate funding (e.g., grant award), it is efficient to use some paid services from a private contractor (e.g., GIS consultant).

# 4. RECOMMENDED ORGANIZATIONAL/OPERATIONAL MODEL AND IMPLEMENTATION PHASES

#### 4.1 Organization Type

During the information gathering process on which this business plan is based, a number of organizational types were considered and reviewers provided comments on their preferences. A general consensus on the following key organizational requirements was established:

- Establishment of the RRC organization should be as administratively and legally streamlined as possible
- The RRC organization should have a legal status with the ability to handle monetary transactions and to enter into formal contracts and agreements
- The RRC organization should always maintain its identity as part of The Idaho Map (TIM) program and its operational connection with the IGO and IGC.
- The RRC organization should be positioned in a way that supports collaboration with existing organizations and programs impacting GIS stakeholders in the region

Of the six organizational types presented for review and comment, three were identified as the most appropriate for one or more of the RRCs:

- Existing University-based program
- Existing Regional Organization
- Multi-organizational Consortia

A consensus has been reached that the most appropriate approach for the East Idaho RRC is to assign management and operations to the GIS Training and Research Center (GIS TreC) at Idaho State University in Pocatello. This approach also opens opportunities to use ISU Geosicence Program facilities at the University Place campus in Idaho Falls.

#### 4.2 RRC Organizational Structure

With the organizational type and host established, it is necessary to put in place a management structure for each RRC. Figure 1 below depicts the recommended management structure. The recommended structure allows for a level of autonomy that gives the RRC freedom to recruit members, pursue funding sources, and carry out project work but it maintains the RRC identify as part of the broader statewide TIM program. Figure 1 shows oversight role played by the IGC and its Executive Committee and the relationship with a parent or host organization for the RRC.

An RRC manager will be assigned and this position, at least initially, will be a part-time function ideally filled by an individual whose existing position in the host organization is compatible with the RRC mission and objectives. This organizational structure includes an "RRC Steering Committee" made up of a fixed number of people (6 to 12 recommended) from RRC member organizations. It is important that this group have strong representation from local governments in the region which constitute the primary RRC participant community. This group represents the RRC membership and broader community of users and therefore, it is important that its members draw on different types of organizations in the region (different levels of government, regional agencies, private firms, and non-profit organizations). The Steering Committee participates in all initial planning and RRC set-up. After the RRC is established and a Manager is assigned, the

Steering Committee acts in an advisory role working closely with the Manager in ongoing RRC operational planning, putting in place programs and services, and monitoring RRC operations. This group also helps ensure participation in IGC initiatives from member organizations in the region, and it helps recruit volunteers for RRC projects. The Steering Committee may establish any number of Working Groups to address specific organizational, technical, or operational issues during RRC formation or ongoing operation. For example, a "Local Government Working Group" has been suggested to represent specific needs of municipalities and county governments. Such a group could be involved in exploring and implementing specific services of importance to this membership sector. Other Working Groups could be formed to support other administrative and ſe.g., technical initiatives By-laws development, RRC promotion and recruitment. design/development of a Web-based contact directory or another standard RRC service).

Figure 2 depicts the relationship among multiple RRCs. This underscores the important need for coordination between the RRCs and a requirement for collaboration and sharing of resources to avoid unnecessary duplication is development and operation of programs and services. Also conveyed by the diagram is the relationship between multiple RRCs. This structure supports coordination among different RRCs and does not place restrictions on people or organizations from outside one RRC region, from using services or participating in programs from another RRC.



\*ISU's role as a host organization also provides options for the use of ISU facilities at the University Place campus in Idaho Falls (in addition to GIS TReC in Pocatello)

It is recommended that RRC formation include the preparation of an RRC "By-Laws" or "Operational Charter". This document will be approved by the IGC Executive Committee and its basic terms will apply to <u>all</u> RRCs (minor wording changes may be approved to address specific circumstances of the RRC. It is not essential that a Charter or By-Laws be prepared in Phase 1 since a ratified business plan will serve as a guiding document for Phase 2 operations. During Phase 2, a formal Charter or By-laws should be prepared using content from the business plan and additional terms that describe RRC organizational structure, roles, and operations. The By-Laws or Charter document should include the following topics:

- Definition of the organizational structure and RRC management,
- The range of services which the RRC may provide,
- Limits of authority in financial, contractual, and legal matters
- RRC relationship with host organization
- Types and terms of RRC participation (members, associates, users)
- RRC Steering Committee function and composition
- Relationship with and oversight from the IGO and IGC

#### 4.3 Relationships and Coordination with Other Organizations

The RRC should serve all public, private, and non-profit organizations. As described in 2.2 registered members (individuals or organizations) will receive basic RRC services but any organization in the region may request RRC services and participate in programs that it sponsors. There are a number of important relationships between the RRC and other organizations that have particular importance:

- <u>RRC host organization</u>: A formal agreement with or statement up support by the host organization (ISU) will be prepared. The RRC works within the organizational structure and administrative procedures of ISU and carries out necessary management actions impacting personnel, contractual, financial, and operational responsibilities. The RRC manager is an ISU employee with an assigned role of directing RRC activities.
- <u>Idaho Geospatial Office (IGO)</u>: The IGO provides support to the RRC and ensures that information about the TIM program is provided to the RRC. The IGO, within limits imposed, provides tangible support (monetary and in-kind) for RRC development and organization. The IGO also helps coordinate RRC development and operations that involve multiple RRCs.
- <u>Idaho Geospatial Council (IGC) and Executive Committee</u>: The IGC Executive Committee (IGC-EC) formally endorses the RRC Business Plan and supports its formation. RRC members volunteer time for serving on the IGC and specific Working Groups or Committees established by the IGC (or it's Executive Committee). As provided for in the IGC By-Laws, RRC representatives serve on the IGC Executive Committee (IGC-EC).
- <u>RRC associate organization</u>: The RRC will work with organizations (government, private, non-profit) which provide support or have involvement in an RRC program or service. This relationship will usually be documented in an agreement or contract. For the East Idaho RRC examples may include: a) RRC partners in a grant funded project, b) support from INL, c) GIS vendors that make in-kind contributions, or d) GIS service companies that are involved in RRC projects.
- <u>Other RRCs</u>: Communication and collaboration among RRCs is a guiding principle during RRC development and ongoing operations. All RRCs are obligated to provide appropriate support and coordination of services with the goal of efficiency and avoidance of duplicating resources. The IGO should play a role in facilitating this coordination but communication should occur regularly between managers and steering committees of the different RRCs. Also, there will be no restrictions on the use of RRC services or programs by an organization or individual outside the RRC's region.
- <u>Private GIS Service Contractors</u>: The RRC plays an important role in providing information about the availability of services by private contractors to the RRC Members. In selected cases, the RRC plays a coordination role in specifying project requirements, selection of private contractors, and ongoing project management overseeing the work of the selected contractor. This role is most useful in cases in which the contractor is providing services for multiple organizations in the RRC region.
- <u>Existing Regional GIS User Groups</u>: During the period of RRC development (see Phase 1 in Section 5), the regional GIS user groups in the East Idaho region (SEIGUG or EIRGIS) will remain in existence, continue their activities, and participate in the formation of the RRC. At an appropriate point (end of Phase 1 or early Phase 2), at which the existing user

group services have be implemented by the RRC, these regional user groups will be disbanded.

• <u>Federal and State Agencies</u>: Federal and state agencies with regional or district offices in the RRC region will be encouraged to become formal RRC members. These organizations use and take part in any RRC program or service. In addition, these agencies could become RRC Associates based on formal agreements with the RRC or they may be partners in joint projects in which the RRC is involved.

#### 4.4 Operational Practices and Service Delivery

Establishment of the RRC must be accompanied by a set of management and administrative practices that support RRC operations, communications, and delivery of services. The main "core management and administrative practices" are described below in Table 3.

Core Practice	Implementation/Operation Issues for the RRC	
A. Staff Recruitment and Oversight	Includes all work involved with identifying and hiring RRC staff for any management, technical, or administrative role regardless of the personnel classification (e.g., student intern, part-time, volunteer, etc.) This is the primary role of the RRC Manager. The role includes all administrative work in establishing a position, filling an existing position, or defining roles for personnel positions that are already part of the host organization. Oversight involves staff orientation, assignment of work, ongoing review of work and guidance, and evaluations.	
B. Receiving Visitors and Callers	Routine but important receptionist and user response activities that support a spirit of quality "customer responsiveness" in the way the RRC accepts, responds to, and tracks calls, visitors, or email inquiries. Any RRC personnel may have a role here but ideally, there should be one or more individuals who have a primary duty of initial response to visitors or callers. Specific procedures should be documented that define an efficient workflow.	
C. Responding to Requests for Products or Services	Related to Core Practice B (Receiving Visitors and Callers) is a well-defined process for follow-up with requests for the use of or participation in RRC programs and services. The RRC Manager or a technical staff person should be assigned for timely response to an inquiry and in appropriate steps to scope out and provide the requested product or service. The specific response will depend on the type of request and resource impacts of the RRC. For requests that go beyond routine activities (signing up a new organization as an RRC Member or providing access to a Web services), a "work ticket" should be created, the potential "project" should be scoped (define basic approach, result, and resources required) with a response to the requestor and possible initiation as a new project.	
D. Promotion and Member Recruitment	Promotion of RRC programs and services is an on-going activity which is a key role of the assigned RRC Manager (although specific activities may be assigned to other personnel). This includes distribution of information about the RRC (primarily to organizations and individuals inside the RRC region) through multiple channels (Web site, presentations at meetings, direct calls or email messages, distribution of promotional literature, etc). See Section 6.4 for more information about RRC marketing and promotion.	
E. Project Planning and Management	This Core Practice applies to cases in which the RRC is called on to provide resources and expertise for a specific project (e.g., acting as a project manager for contracted database development services). For these cases, there should be a defined workflow and templates that support best practices for planning a project (defining tasks, schedule, and resources) and for ongoing management (project tracking, deliverable review, reporting).	
F. Work and Financial Tracking	A routine function for which the RRC manager is primarily responsible. This addresses established procedures, in the host organization, for employee time reporting (hours by project or activity area), employee expenses, and all routine accounting and bookkeeping work.	
G. Scheduling Use of Facilities and Event Organization	Facilities of the host organization or an outside organization will be available to the RRC for holding meetings and other events. Such facilities may be provided at no cost by the host or an outside organization or fees may be required. Whatever the circumstances, designated RRC staff will have the responsibility for identifying appropriate facilities, scheduling their use, making sure that required set-up is being handled (room configuration, equipment), arranging for amenities (e.g., refreshments), attendee registration, etc.	
H. Status Monitoring and Reporting	A basic responsibility of the RRC Manager will be to track overall activity and progress during RRC development and during operational Phases. This implies a formal reporting process based on requirements established by the host organization and the IGC-EC.	

Table 3: RRC Core Administrative and Management Practices

#### 5. IMPLEMENTATION STEPS, TIMING, AND COST PROJECTIONS

#### 5.1 RRC Development Phases

#### Phase 1: RRC Preparation/Organization (6 months from IGC-EC plan endorsement)

Phase 1 work includes identifying and establishing the organizational and physical home for RRC operations and associated agreements, appointment of the "Steering Committee", designation of initial management and staff, investigating and securing initial funding. Promotion and news about the RRC is distributed to potential participants in the region and work begins to "sign-up" regional members.

#### Phase 2: RRC Start-up and Initial Operations (12 to 18 months following end of Phase 1)

Initial facilities are set-up and work proceeds to develop and deploy initial high-priority services and programs—all of those assigned a Priority of "5" (see Table 2) and selected ones with a Priority of "4". Promotion work and "registering" regional members continues. Identifying and enlisting associates is carried out. Additional funding sources and project opportunities are explored and secured. The RRC plays an active role in TIM initiatives. Procedures and templates for adherence to Core Management Practices (see Table 4) are put in place.

#### Phase 3: RRC Enhanced Service Deployment (12 months following end of Phase 2)

Additional services and programs are developed and deployed. This includes all of those assigned a Priority of "4" and "5" (see Table 2) and selected ones with a lower priority. Work continues on recruiting additional members and associates and in exploring additional funding sources and project opportunities. Staff and facilities devoted to the RRC are expanded as funding allows.

#### Phase 4: Mature RRC Operations (Future after Phase 3)

Phase 4 defines a state in which all higher priority (priority scores of 3, 4, and 5) programs and services are in place and new services or projects are initiated as user demand dictates. The management structure and management processes are well established and are improved or augmented as necessary. Sources of funding and in-kind support are in place but work for identification and securing of new sources is ongoing. General promotion and member recruitment continues at a high level.

#### 5.2 RRC Implementation Steps

Implementation steps associated with the four recommended RRC development phases are identified and described in Table 4. These implementation tasks are organized under the following categories:

- Organizational Set-up
- Funding and Resource Allocation
- Design and Establishment of Phase 2 RRC Programs and Services
- Design and Establishment of Phase 3 RRC Programs and Services
- Design and Establishment of Future (Phase 4) RRC Programs and Services
- Promotion, Recruitment, and External Relations
- Ongoing RRC Management

Table 4 identifies the Phase(s) associated with implementation tasks. Specific start and end dates are not included in this table because the actual timing will depend on plan endorsement by the IGC-EC, confirming support from the host organization, and funding that will become available. It is suggested that preparation of detailed work plans (with specific dates) be prepared to support implementation of RRC services and programs described in this plan.

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
1. Organizational Set-up			
1.1 IGC Executive Committee Endorses RRC Business Plan	A final draft of the RRC Business Plan should be submitted to the IGC Executive Committee for review and prompt endorsement. The IGC-EC may suggest revisions to the plan and appropriate changes will be made in a Final version of the plan. A Final Plan will then be prepared followed by formal approval by the Executive Committee.	1	<ul> <li>Must be timed with a schedule meeting of the IGC-EC</li> </ul>
1.2 Form RRC Steering Committee	Soon after formal business plan adoption, the RRC Steering Committee should be established and its members assigned. Specific duties of the Steering Committee will be defined (see ***) and a maximum number of members and their terms of service will be established	1	Steering Committee will initially participate in drafting of charter or by-laws and all other RRC start-up activities.
1.3 Identify and Get Commitment from Host Organization(s)	Based on options examined during the business planning process, the host organization will be identified and discussion of terms for RRC support will begin. For the East Idaho RRC, the host organization is Idaho State University.	1	
1.4 Prepare and Ratify Agreement with Host Organization	Based on the groundwork from Task 1.2, a formal agreement will be prepared and ratified by appropriate parties with overall authority. The agreement will include all terms governing the agreement.	1	<ul> <li>Follows formal commitment in Task 1.3</li> <li>The host agency takes a lead role to define terms for assuming the host role</li> </ul>
1.5 Identify Services and Programs for Phase 2 Implementation	Services and programs for initial deployment will be identified. This Business Plan (see Section 2.1) explains the current consensus on RRC programs and services, and their priority. In this task, these programs and services will be confirmed and priorities will be adjusted as appropriate.	1	<ul> <li>Phase 2 services and programs will be selected ones with a priority of 5 or 4</li> </ul>
1.6 Prepare Template By- Laws or Charter	With leadership by the IGO and IGC Executive Committee and template document will be prepared. After adequate review and revision, this template will be approved as the basis for By-Laws or Charter for the East Idaho RRC. It is not essential that a Charter or By-Laws be prepared in Phase 1 since a ratified business plan will serve as a guiding document for Phase 2 operations. During Phase 2, a formal Charter or By-laws should be prepared using content from the business plan and additional terms that describe RRC organizational structure, roles, and operations.	1, 2	
1.7 Prepare and Ratify By- Laws or Charter	The substance of the terms included in the approved template will remain but revisions and references to organizations or circumstances in the East Idaho region will be made. This will be endorsed by the IGC-Executive Committee.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Follows preparation of template in Task 1.6</li> <li>Requires clear definition of signatory parties</li> </ul>
1.8 Dissolve Regional User Group and Notification to Constituents	At a point at which the RRC has assumed activities and programs provided in the past by existing regional GIS user groups, the EIRGIS and SEIGUG will be formally dissolved. The dissolution, approved by user group leaders, will be documented in writing and communicated to user group participants, the IGO, and the IGC.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Action taken after full agreement of EIRGIS and SEIGUG leadership in communication with members</li> </ul>

Task Number and			
Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
1.9 Assign RRC Manager	As early as possible after business plan approval, an individual should be assigned as RRC manager. As described in Section 3.3, this will be a part-time role, assigned to an individual whose current position is compatible with the RRC mission and identified services and programs.	1	<ul> <li>The RRC manager role is assigned to an existing employee of the host organization</li> </ul>
1.10 Assign initial RRC Technical and Support Staff	For the East Idaho RRC, the following technical and support staff (not full-time roles) are recommended for initial operations in Phase 2: a) Web-based development for design and development of Web services, b) expert in GIS database design and development, c) administrative support to assist in user communications, promotion, and member recruitment.	1, 2	Staff are assigned after an RRC Manager has been assigned
1.11 Prepare detailed budget and resources needs for Phase 2	Based on planned programs and services for Phase 2 and information about the availability of funds and non-monetary resources, a budget will be prepared to cover RRC development and operational costs for Phase 2. The format and timing for budget preparation and approval will follow applicable budgeting rules of the host organization. Note: State government including ISU follow a July-to-June Fiscal Year.	1	<ul> <li>Budget requests must follow format and required timing of host organization</li> </ul>
1.12 Prepare detailed budget and resources needs for subsequent phases	As in Task 1.11, budgets for future phases will be prepared, on an annual basis,	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Budget requests must follow format and required timing of host organization</li> </ul>
1.13 Create templates, tools, and standard operating procedures (SOP) for core management practices	RRC core management practices are described in Table 4. Templates and tools will be prepared as Microsoft Word documents or Excel spreadsheets. SOPs are concisely written and serve to clarify actions to be taken by RRC personnel for routine operational tasks. The majority of these templates, tools, and SOPs should be prepared in Phase 1 and modified as necessary in subsequent phases. New ones will be created, as needed in Phases 2, 3, and 4.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Templates and tools (forms, report formats) may already exist in host organization</li> </ul>
2. Funding and Resource	Allocation	•	
2.1 Identify and Secure Initial Funding and Resources for Phase 2	This task includes the identification and formal allocation of funding and non-monetary resources for initial RRC operations in Phase 2. Note: The companion document, "Notes on Investigations about Potential Host Organizations and Outside Support" (http://giscenter.isu.edu/research/Techpg/caprrc/pdf/RRC_HostSupportingOrganizationFinal.pdf) gives potential options for sources of support and funding. This document should be used as a basis for exploring and securing funding and non-monetary support.	1	
2.2 Put in Place Structure and Process for Membership Fee	Organizations and individuals in the region that register as RRC members will be obligated to pay an annual membership fee in exchange for basic services provided by the RRC. The amount of the fee will need to be decided and provisions for a tiered fee structure should be defined. This may include different fee amounts for individuals vs. organizations or different amounts set by type of size of organization. In addition, the RRC will decide whether to waive fees for an initial period (e.g., first year of RRC development) and institute the fee at a point when a basic set of services is in place.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Impacts recruitment activities (Task 6.4 and 6.5)</li> </ul>

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
2.3 Establish Administrative Structure for Managing Funding	All internal accounting, monitoring, and reporting procedures and tools need to be created and put in place to support the efficient management of fundsadhering to the policies of the host organization and any external funding sources. This includes preparation of template reports, spreadsheets, and other specific financial management processes. See Section 4.4.	1, 2	
2.4 Support Approval of State Budget Request for GIS	Provide any needed information or tangible support for the approval of funding for the state's TIM program and an allocation for RRC development. This may include providing "testimonial stories" on GIS benefits in the region, endorsements from senior officials in the region, or other forms of support.	1	
2.5 Solicit Sponsorships and In-kind donations	A sponsorship program will be put in place for donations of monetary or non-monetary contributions from organizations inside or outside the region. A sponsorship program would be principally aimed and private companies and non-governmental organizations. Sponsorship program development would include: a) identification of potential donors, b) promotional information describing the program and sponsorship levels, c) a management and accounting process that allows for the acceptance of donations, d) active solicitation of sponsors.	All	
2.6 Establish Grant Research and Writing Function	Put in place a process and assigned personnel for the research, identification, and preparation of grant applications which may support RRC activities. Grants programs may be administered by Federal or State agencies, or non-governmental organizations. In some cases, the RRC may play a lead role in grant application (often assembling a proposed team for resulting work) or it may be a party to a grant project lead by another organization. Establishing an effective grant research and application program requires coordination with individuals already involved in this work.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Should be coordinated with existing resources devoted to grant research and application</li> <li>Basis for on-going work for grant applications and awards as described in Task 3.9</li> </ul>
2.7 Ongoing Work in Identifying and Securing Future Funding and Resources	Research and securing of funding and non-monetary resources to support the RRC will be an on-going activity and a principal role of the RRC manager.	2, 3, 4	
2.8 Establish volunteer program and solicit volunteer staff	In addition to paid staff resources, RRC programs and services will always require volunteered time from RRC users (see 3.3.4). In order to make the best use of volunteer time, a structure should be established for soliciting volunteers and assigning them to specific tasks that match their skills and time availability. Setting up the program includes creating a "Call for Volunteers" Web page with information about RRC projects and activities that need volunteer support, the type of work and skill requirements, and an easy way for potential volunteers to sign-up and begin contributing.	1, 2	
2.9 Establish Student Intern Program	The RRC Manager will position the RRC to take advantage of available student intern or co- op programs and, as necessary, establish new relationships with colleges and universities with GIS programs.	1, 2	

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages						
3. Design and Establishment of Phase 2 RRC Programs and Services A description of the programs and services is provided in Table 1 and Table 2. This set of tasks specifically refers to design, development, set-up, and deployment of RRC programs and services. Establishment of each RRC service or program will be handled as individual projects each of which follows a logical development process with the following steps: 1) define requirements, 2) prepare conceptual design, 3) assign project team, 4) detailed design, 5) develop, test, review prototype(s), 6) Revise based on prototype testing, 7) Prepare documentation, 8)Deploy in operational setting. The time and resources required to reach operational status will depend on the complexity of the service or program. It is expected that the lower complexity services (e.g., Web-based contact directory) can be defined and put in place relative quickly and use minimal resources. As noted below, some programs and services developed for deployment in Phase 2 will be augmented and enhanced in subsequent Phases.									
3.1 Directory of GIS Contacts and Professional Networking Support (A)	This service should be developed on a statewide basis with as a fundamental part of the TIM Program. The IGO should take a lead role in organizing development and work should be assigned to a new Technical Working Group with active participation by the East Region RRC and other RRCs when they are formed. A server for deployment of this application should be designated. The service should include a flexible way for organizations and individuals to edit and enter new contact information. In subsequent Phases, contact data is continually updated and enhancements to the Web-based application are made as needed.	1, 2	• This service is addressed by Implementation Initiatives E4 and E7 in the Idaho SDI Business Plan (2/2009)						
3.2 GIS News of Regional Importance (B)	This service should be developed on a statewide basis with as a fundamental part of the TIM Program. This service is partially in place through the current "Geotech" listserv but there are other Web service approaches for enabling access and distribution of applicable new items. A work team should be assembled to examine needs for GIS news and to design an improved approach for enhancement. The RRC or the IGC may take the lead role in design and development. A server for deployment of this application should be designated. The service should include a flexible way for organizations and individuals to post new items. In subsequent Phases, news data is continually updated and enhancements to the Web-based application are made as needed.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Application should be developed once and maintained on a single server with access by all RRCs</li> <li>Requires regular updates by RRC participants and other members of the Idaho GIS community</li> </ul>						
3.3 GIS Project/Best Practices Catalog (D)	This service should be developed on a statewide basis with as a fundamental part of the TIM Program. The IGO should take a lead role in organizing development and work should be assigned to a new Technical Working Group with active participation by the East Region RRC and other RRCs when they are formed RRC. A server for deployment of this application should be designated. The service should include a flexible way for entry and update of new best practices or project examples. In subsequent Phases, news data is continually updated and enhancements to the Web-based application are made as needed.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Application should be developed once and maintained on a single server with access by all RRCs</li> <li>Requires regular updates by RRC participants and other members of the Idaho GIS community</li> </ul>						
3.4 Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits (E)	This is an ongoing role of the RRC and its members in coordination with outreach activities of the IGO and IGC. It begins in Phase 2 and continues in subsequent phases. The requirements definition and design steps for this program includes identifying audiences and the design of materials for promotion of GIS benefits. Implementation means the creation of promotional materials, presentations, and identifying venues for building GIS awareness. Additional advocacy activities by the RRC will be deployed in Phase 3.	1, 2	• This is addressed by Implementation Initiative F1 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business</i> <i>Plan</i> (2/2009)						

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
			• Requires the approval of data standards (by the IGC-EC and the preparation of a Stewardship Plan
3.5 Put in place Regional Framework Steward Role (F)	The specific functions and responsibilities of the Regional Steward Role will be documented on implemented individually for each Framework Theme or Element. It will be implemented only for those Themes and Elements in which RRC members are key Source Stewards	1, 2	<ul> <li>Based on tight coordination with Source Stewards, Framework Coordinator (IGO), and Framework Steward</li> </ul>
			• This is addressed by Implementation Initiatives D4 and D6 in the <i>Idaho SDI</i> <i>Business Plan</i> (2/2009)
3.6 Support/ Encourage			<ul> <li>Requires coordination with IGO and IGC on standards development and approval</li> </ul>
Adoption of TIM Standards and Policies (I)	about adopted standards. RRC members familiar with TIM standards will provide mentoring and support to other RRC members. This is an ongoing activity that begins in Phase 2 but continues in subsequent Phases (as new standards and policies are adopted).	1, 2	• This is addressed by Implementation Initiative S2 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business</i> <i>Plan</i> (2/2009)
3.7 Organize/Host GIS preparation steps for this service in Phase 1 and 2 involve the identification of potential	Specific meetings and events will be identified during Phase 2 and subsequent phases. Initial preparation steps for this service in Phase 1 and 2 involve the identification of potential meeting facilities, equipment/system availability, and information for required reservation of	2	<ul> <li>Dependent on availability of space and facilities of the host organization or other organizations</li> </ul>
Meetings and Events (J)	facilities for an upcoming event. In addition, a process for making and responding to requests for use of meeting facilities must be documented.		<ul> <li>Supports Service M (Training and Education)</li> </ul>
			<ul> <li>Requires coordination and communication with training providers</li> </ul>
3.8 Coordinate and Promote GIS Training and Education (M)	This involves effective communication with training providers and identification of training opportunities available to RRC users. Information about training is distributed to RRC users (See Service B). This service is initially deployed in Phase 2 but continues in subsequent	2	<ul> <li>This service is addressed by Implementation Initiatives E6, E7, and E8 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business Plan</i> (2/2009)</li> </ul>
	phases.		<ul> <li>Communication about and support for training opportunities involves Service J (Organize Meetings and Events)</li> </ul>
3.9 Grant Research Application Preparation, and Administration (O)	As described in 2.6, the RRC will put in place a process and function for grant research and grant applications—with the understanding that grants will be an important funding source. The RRC will identify potential grants and either takes the lead role in grant application or work with RRC members in grant application. This work will culminate in grant awards and putting in place a grant project management structure.	2	<ul> <li>Uses procedures established in Task 2.6</li> </ul>

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages					
4. Design and Establishme	ent of Phase 3 RRC Programs and Services							
A description of the programs and services is provided in Table 1 and Table 2. This set of tasks specifically refers to design, development, set-up, and deployment of RRC programs and services. Establishment of each RRC service or program will be handled as individual projects each of which follows a logical development process with the following steps: 1) define requirements, 2) prepare conceptual design, 3) assign project team, 4) detailed design, 5) develop, test, review prototype(s), 6) Revise based on prototype testing, 7) Prepare documentation, 8)Deploy in operational setting. The time and resources required to reach operational status will depend on the complexity of t service or program. It is expected that the lower complexity services (e.g., Web-based contact directory) can be defined and put in place relative quickly and use minimal resources. As noted below, some programs and services developed for deployment in Phase 3 will be augmented and enhanced in Phase 4.								
4.1 Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits (E)	This activity begins in Phase 2 and is expanded and enhanced, as necessary in Phase 3.	2, 3	<ul> <li>Builds on work from Task 3.4 carried out in Phase 2</li> </ul>					
			Builds on stewardship roles established in Phase 2 (see 3.5)					
4.2 Put in place Regional	This activity begins in Phase 2 and continues in subsequent phases. In Phase 3, Framework		<ul> <li>Requires the approval of data standards (by the IGC-EC and the preparation of a Stewardship Plan</li> </ul>					
Framework Steward Role (F)	Steward activities may be initiated for additional Framework Themes or Elements which were not implemented in Phase 2.	2, 3	<ul> <li>Based on tight coordination with Source Stewards, Framework Coordinator (IGO), and Framework Steward</li> </ul>					
			• This is addressed by Implementation Initiatives D4 and D6 in the Idaho SDI Business Plan (2/2009)					
4.3 GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update (G)	RRC involvement in actual data collection and compilation will occur on a selective basis when the RRC role is the most effective approach for GIS database development. This may be the case for special projects, compilation of non-Framework data, or support in database development for smaller jurisdictions without the resources in place to carry out the work. The options remain for the RRC to use its staff for database work or to enter into project partnerships with private sector companies.	3	<ul> <li>Makes use of standards adopted in Task 3.6</li> </ul>					
			Continuation of work started in Phase 2     (see 3.7)					
4.4 Organize/Host GIS Meetings and Events (J)	Ongoing work that continues from Phase 2.	3	<ul> <li>Dependent on availability of space and facilities of the host organization or other organizations</li> </ul>					
			• Supports Service M (Training and Education)					

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
4.5 Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement (K)	This work (which may start in Phase 2) will culminate in the preparation of template materials that may be used, with modification, for an actual procurement by an RRC member or by the RRC itself representing one or more RRC members. The objective is to create multiple template documents for different types of projects (e.g., field data collection, map conversion, orthoimagery, application development services) to speed up the procurement process. Ideally, these template documents will use a notation scheme that guides users to make required inserts and modifications for producing a technical specification and/or procurement document (e.g., RFP). In most cases this service will be provided for a fee (from RRC members or users that are undertaking a new project).	2,3	<ul> <li>This is addressed by Implementation Initiative L5 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business</i> <i>Plan</i> (2/2009)</li> <li>Procurement templates must take into account procurement rules of specific RRC member organizations</li> </ul>
4.6 Joint Project Negotiation and Management Support (L)	Preparation for this service would include the development of project planning and management procedures and templates and identification of personnel who could support this process on behalf of the RRC. This service will be initially offered in Phase 3 and will continue in Phase 4. In most cases this service will be provided for a fee (from RRC members or users that are undertaking a new project).	2, 3	<ul> <li>Service would be provided at the request of an RRC member of group of members</li> <li>This is addressed by Implementation Initiatives O2 and O3 in the <i>Idaho SDI</i> <i>Business Plan</i> (2/2009)</li> </ul>
4.7 Provide GIS Training and Education (M)	Training or educational sessions are planned, development, and provided by the RRC only in cases where user demand is high and where there is no other, easily accessible source for the training. Ongoing work in coordination and support for training opportunities continues in this Phase (see 3.8).	3	<ul> <li>Requires coordination and communication with training providers</li> <li>This service is addressed by Implementation Initiatives E6, E7, and E8 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business Plan</i> (2/2009)</li> <li>Communication about and support for training opportunities involves Service J (Organize Meetings and Events)</li> </ul>
4.8 Hosting GIS Data and Services (P)	As described in Section 2, the RRC may, on a selective basis, host data or applications needed by RRC members if the service is not readily available from another source. In addition, the RRC may serve as a "broker" to identify and enlist a hosting service from another party (private firm, university, government agency). Preparation for this service includes the development of terms for a hosting agreement and identification of the server, software, and network resources and the programming work to implement the host applications. This service may be provided in Phase 3 and would continue in Phase 4.	3	<ul> <li>Should not create competitive conflicts with private sector</li> </ul>
4.9 GIS Web Services/Facilitate Technology Transfer (Q)	This Phase 3 service involves facilitation and mutual support among RRC members to identify existing, successful applications and Web services deployed by an RRC member (or and organization outside the Region) and to provide support in implementing the application in another organization which can benefit from it. This does not include a "ground-up" application design and development effort, just coordination and facilitation. This "technology transfer" role is in place in Phase 3 and continues in Phase 4.	3	

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages						
	ent of Future (Phase 4) RRC Programs and Services	Thase	Dependencies/Einkages						
A description of the programs and services is provided in Table 1 and Table 2. This set of tasks specifically refers to design, development, set-up, and deployment of RRC programs and services. Establishment of each RRC service or program will be handled as individual projects each of which follows a logical development process with the following steps: 1) define requirements, 2) prepare conceptual design, 3) assign project team, 4) detailed design, 5) develop, test, review prototype(s), 6) Revise based on prototype testing, 7) Prepare documentation, 8)Deploy in operational setting. The time and resources required to reach operational status will depend on the complexity of the service or program. It is expected that the lower complexity services (e.g., Web-based contact directory) can be defined and put in place relative quickly and use minimal resources. A description of the programs and services is provided in Table 1 and Table 2. Some of these programs and services were initially developed and deployed in previous phases but are continued in Phase 4 with appropriate expansion or enhancement. NOTE: Some of these programs and services were initially developed and deployed in previous phases but are continued in Phase 4 with appropriate expansion or enhancement.									
5.1 GIS Professional Labor Pool Management (C)	This is a low priority service that may or may not be implemented. The requirements definition and design stage would include an identification of the level of need, legal/policy impacts, and design of accounting mechanisms to support it. This would be followed by a	3, 4	<ul> <li>Should be integrated with the Contact Directory (Service A)</li> <li>Government procurement or accounting procedures may present obstacles</li> </ul>						
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Web-based service through which organizations could offer staff and request staff services from another organization.		<ul> <li>Potential competitive conflicts with the private sector need to be avoided.</li> </ul>						
			• Builds on stewardship activities put in place in Phases 2 and 3 (see Tasks 3.5 and 4.2)						
5.2 Put in place Regional			<ul> <li>Requires the approval of data standards (by the IGC-EC and the preparation of a Stewardship Plan</li> </ul>						
Framework Steward Role (F)		3, 4	<ul> <li>Based on tight coordination with Source Stewards, Framework Coordinator (IGO), and Framework Steward</li> </ul>						
			• This is addressed by Implementation Initiatives D4 and D6 in the <i>Idaho SDI</i> <i>Business Plan</i> (2/2009)						
5.3 GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update (G)	This service is initially put in place in Phase 3 but continues in Phase 4. Decisions for RRC involvement in data or metadata collection and compilation are made on a case-by-case basis and will be undertaken for special projects, non-Framework data, and support to smaller jurisdictions.	3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows database development work in Phase 3 (see Task 4.3)Makes use of standards adopted in Task 3.6</li> </ul>						
5.4 Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement (K)	This work (which may start in Phase 2) will culminate in the preparation of template materials that may be used, with modification, for an actual procurement by an RRC member or by the RRC itself representing one or more RRC members. The objective is to create multiple template documents for different types of projects (e.g., field data collection, map conversion, orthoimagery, application development services) to speed up the procurement process. Ideally, these template documents will use a notation scheme that guides users to make required inserts and modifications for producing a technical specification and/or procurement document (e.g., RFP). In most cases this service will be provided for a fee (from RRC members or users that are undertaking a new project).	3, 4							

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
5.5 Provide GIS Training and Education (M)	Training or educational sessions are planned, development, and provided by the RRC only in cases where user demand is high and where there is no other, easily accessible source for the training.	3, 4	
5.6 Hosting GIS Data and Services (P)	See 4.8 As appropriate, the RRC implements or works with another party (private firm, public agency) to set-up new hosted services (not implemented in Phase 3).	3, 4	<ul> <li>Should not create competitive conflicts with private sector</li> <li>Assumes the availability of system resources and personnel to deploy and manage the hosting</li> </ul>
5.7 GIS Web Services: RRC Carries out Design and Development (Q)	As opposed to the facilitation and technology transfer role implemented in Phase 3, this Phase 4 service involves actual application design, development, and deployment by RRC personnel or by contractors hired by the RRC.	3, 4	<ul> <li>Should not create competitive conflicts with private sector</li> <li>Assumes the availability of RRC personnel with necessary design and development skills</li> </ul>
6. Promotion, Recruitment	t, and External Relations		
6.1 Design and Set-up Initial RRC Web Page	An initial RRC Home page will be established on a designated server. In Phase 1, this will just provide basic functionality (background information, promotional material, member sign-up). In later Phases, this Web page will be the portal to on-line services provided by the RRC. It would be most effective for multiple RRCs to jointly development the Web page and ideally deploy Web pages for multiple RRCs on a common server.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Requires server and software for development</li> <li>Will benefit from joint development by multiple RRCs</li> </ul>
6.2 Prepare Promotional Materials	Includes the development of an RRC brochure that explains the RRC concept, the launching of the RRC, intended services and benefits, and contact info. The main audience is potential RRC members, associates, and users outside of the region. Recommended design would be a two-sided letter size sheet or tri-fold in 3 or 4 colors. It should be designed so it can be distributed in hard copy and digital form.	1, 2	<ul> <li>Should be designed so it can be used, with modification, by multiple RRCs</li> <li>This is addressed by Implementation Initiative E1 in the <i>Idaho SDI Business</i> <i>Plan</i> (2/2009)</li> </ul>
6.3 Carry Out Active Promotion	Active begins in Phase 1 and continues through subsequent phases. It is a general activity that overlaps with specific recruitment, fundraising, and general promotion of RRC programs and services. RRC staff and members will identify opportunities for promotion including distribution of promotional materials, presentations at GIS-related events, management briefings, and participation in professional associations.	All	<ul> <li>Should be carried out in coordination with other RRCs and the IGO</li> </ul>
6.4 Recruit Initial Members	An active recruitment campaign for RRC Members should be launched in Phase 1 and continued in subsequent phases. This recruitment campaign has a major focus on local gov'ts (County, City). A simple registration form will be developed and deployed (ideally Webbased and accessible from RRC Web Page). A standard member fee needs to be decided prior to active recruitment. The RRC may decide to waive the fee for an initial period. For the campaign recruitment goals should stated and membership should be promoted through all available channels, including calls to key contact people in potential user organizations.	1, 2	
6.5 Ongoing Recruitment of Members and Associates	Continuation of the recruitment campaign initiated in Phase 1 for all subsequent phases. This includes regular members and RRC Associates (see 2.2). Associates are organizations with which the RRC has a formal agreement for services or mutual support.	2, 3, 4	

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
6.6 Identify RRC members for Participation in IGC Committees and Working Groups	Members representing different types of organizations (public, non-profit, private) in the RRC region will join the IGC. The RRC will encourage IGC participation and service in the IGC Executive Committee. In addition, the RRC Manager and Steering Committee will help recruit volunteers to actively participate on Working Groups and Committees formed by the IGC-EC. This activity begins in Phase 2 and continues in subsequent phases.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows IGC By-Laws</li> <li>Implementation of RRC program N (Table 1)</li> </ul>
6.7 Conduct User Satisfaction/Needs Survey	On a periodic basis (no more frequently than annually), after Phase 2, the RRC Manager should conduct a survey of RRC users to gain input about their experiences in use of RRC services, level of satisfaction with the services, and suggestions for improvement and enhancement. This should be a well-designed Web-based survey with "back end tools" to process and present the results—which should be used to operational planning and improvement of services. To ensure an adequate response, the survey should be well advertised with enough lead time for individuals to respond.	3, 4	<ul> <li>Supports periodic program review and audit in Task 7.8</li> </ul>
6.8 Process Calls, Requests, and Receive Visitors	This is a core management described in Table 4. With a standard operating procedure (SOP) documented (see Task 1.13) the process should be set-up with duties assigned for handling calls, requests, and visitors.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows procedures defined in Task 1.13</li> </ul>
6.9 Respond to Requests for RRC Services	The RRC should adopt an efficient customer service approach that focuses on prompt response to requests—whether they are simple questions or more detailed discussion about services or a new project start-up. The SOP developed in Task 1.13 will define an appropriate and workflow. Requests and responses will be documented and used in periodic status reporting.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows procedures defined in Task 1.13</li> </ul>
7. Ongoing Management	This includes routine RRC operational management activities that will begin in Phase 2 and continue in subsequent phases. Many of the activities here address "core administrative and management practices" described in Table 5.		
7.1 On-going Staff/Personnel Management	This activity encompasses all routine staff management work carried out by the RRC Manager or by staff who are assigned project management roles. This includes new employee orientation, work delegation and oversight, employee evaluation, periodic staff meetings, and disciplinary actions as appropriate	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows requirements of host organization and SOP developed in Task 1.13</li> </ul>
7.2 Monitor RRC Time and Finances	The RRC Manager will be responsible for tabulating, preparing, and reviewing necessary forms required by the host organization and by any external organizations providing funding or in-kind support (e.g., grant administration requirements). This includes employee time and expense reporting, preparation of purchase requests, review and approval of invoices, and other financial tracking and reporting requirements.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Follows requirements of host organization and SOP developed in Task 1.13</li> <li>Includes monitoring of budgets created in Tasks 1.11 and 1.12</li> </ul>
7.3 Monitor RRC Activities and Service Delivery	This includes all routine monitoring of RRC activities and services. It includes the capture of basic metrics (e.g., members recruited, number of requests for service, project reports, special events managed, fundraising results, etc.).	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Uses information from satisfaction survey (Task 6.7)</li> </ul>

Task Number and Name	Explanation	Phase	Dependencies/Linkages
7.4 Prepare Detailed Management Reports	Periodic reports aimed at management personnel from the host organization, the IGO, and management in other organizations providing significant funding and support should be prepared on a regular basis (e.g., monthly or quarterly depending on the requirements of the recipient parties). This reporting will use template documents prepared during RRC set-up.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Uses templates created in Task 1.13</li> </ul>
7.5 Prepare Quarterly Status Report	Using a reporting template, quarterly reports, aimed at management personnel, are brief summaries of accomplishments during the reporting period, major problems or obstacles, and key activities and planned events for the upcoming quarter. These reports are distributed in digital form and used, as required, for management briefings (e.g., presentations to IGC Executive Committee).	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Report template created in Task 1.13</li> </ul>
7.6 Schedule and Handle Logistics for RRC Events	RRC staff or volunteers will handle scheduling and arrangement of facilities for meetings and events sponsored or supported by the RRC. This is one of the core administrative functions described in Table 4.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Supports a variety of RRC programs and services (see Table 1).</li> </ul>
7.7 Set-up Management Structure for New Projects	The RRC will be positioned to assume a role in the planning and management of GIS projects on behalf of RRC members (see description of Services F, G, K, L, P, and Q). Initiating work under these service categories will require setting up a project management structure consisting of a work plan, schedule, budget, definition of deliverables, project manager and team, project communications and monitoring, and reporting.	2, 3, 4	<ul> <li>Project planning and management principles from the Project Management Institute (PMI) should be followed</li> </ul>
7.8 Periodic Review and Audit of RRC Operations	Effective RRC management calls for period reviews or "program audits" carried out to provide a comprehensive picture of program status, quality of service, accomplishments, and problems or obstacles encountered. Carrying out a review on an annual basis provides information useful in planning for future operations and improving services to users.	2, 3, 4	• Uses detailed management reports (Task 7.4), quarterly reports (Task 7.5), and information from user satisfaction surveys (Task 6.7)

#### **5.3 Implementation Responsibilities**

Table 5 identifies specific offices or groups that have responsibility for RRC development and operation activities. Three role/responsibility categories are identified:

- Lead Role (L): Overall responsibility for accomplishing or carrying out the activity including detailed work planning, assembling and overseeing work teams, work monitoring and quality checks, etc.
- Participant/Support (P): Any involvement in carrying out the activity, providing technical or management assistance, or system resources to support the work.
- Oversight/Approval (0): Designated role in oversight and formal approval for Stewardship activities.

	(1 -			D-Do	Resp	onsi	biliti	es	ersight/	/Appro	aval)
	(L=	Leau		г=га	пісіра	nvSu	Sport,	0=0v		Арріс	jval)
RRC Development Task	Idaho Geospatial Council and Executive Committee	IGO-GIO	IGC Committees /Working Groups	Regional User Group Leaders	Host Organization Management	RRC Manager	RRC Staff and Volunteers	RRC Members and Users	RRC Service Providers and Associates	RRC Steering Committee	Organizations Providing Funding or In-kind Support
1. ORGANIZATIONAL SET-UP											
1.1 IGC Executive Committee Endorses RRC Business Plan	L	Ρ		Р							
1.2 Form RRC Steering Committee				Р		L		Ρ			
1.3 Identify and Get Commitment from Host Organization(s)					0	L				Ρ	
1.4 Prepare and Ratify Agreement with Host Organization					0	L					
1.5 Identify Services and Programs for Phase 2 Implementation						L		Ρ		Ρ	
1.6 Prepare Template By-Laws or Charter	0					Ρ		Ρ		L	
1.7 Prepare and Ratify By-Laws or Charter for RRC	0					Ρ				L	
1.8 Dissolve Regional User Group and Notification to Constituents	0	Ρ		L		Ρ				L	
1.9 Assign RRC Manager		Ρ			L						
1.10 Assign initial RRC Technical and Support Staff					0	L		Ρ		Ρ	
1.11 Prepare detailed budget and resources needs for Phase 2		Ρ			0	L				Ρ	
1.12 Prepare detailed budget and resources needs for subsequent phases						L					
1.13 Create templates, tools, and standard operating procedures (SOP) for core management practices					Ρ	L	L				

#### Table 5: Responsibilities for RRC Development and Operation

	<b>Responsibilities</b> (L=Lead Role, P=Participant/Support, O=Oversight/Approval)										
	(L=	=Lea		, r=r	articip	ani/St	ipport	, 0=0		i/Appi	oval)
RRC Development Task	Idaho Geospatial Council and Executive Committee	1GO-GIO	IGC Committees /Working Groups	Regional User Group Leaders	Host Organization Management	RRC Manager	RRC Staff and Volunteers	RRC Members and Users	RRC Service Providers and Associates	RRC Steering Committee	Organizations Providing Funding or In-kind Support
2. FUNDING AND RESOURCE ALLOCATION											
2.1 Identify and Secure Initial Funding and Resources for Phase 2		Ρ			Ρ	Ρ				L	Ρ
2.2 Put in Place Structure and Process for Membership Fee		0				Ρ		Ρ		L	
2.3 Establish Administrative Structure for Managing Funding					0	L	Ρ				
2.4 Support Approval of State Budget Request for GIS	Р	L				Ρ		Ρ		Ρ	
2.5 Solicit Sponsorships and In-kind donations		Ρ				L	L		Р	Р	Р
2.6 Establish Grant Research and Writing Function		Ρ				L		Р			
2.7 Ongoing Work in Identifying and Securing Future Funding and Resources	Ρ	Ρ				L				L	Р
2.8 Establish volunteer program and solicit volunteer staff						L	Ρ			Р	
2.9 Establish Student Intern Program					Р	L				Ρ	
3. DESIGN AND ESTABLISHMENT OF PHASE 2 PROG	RAMS	S AN	D SE	RVICI	ES						
3.1 Directory of GIS Contacts and Professional Networking Support (A)		Ρ	L			L	Ρ	Ρ		ο	
3.2 GIS News of Regional Importance (B)		Ρ	L			L	Ρ	Р		0	
3.3 GIS Project/Best Practices Catalog (D)		Р	L			L	Ρ	Р		0	
3.4 Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits (E)		L				Ρ	Ρ	Р		L	
3.5 Put in place Regional Framework Steward Role (F)		Ч	Ρ			L	Ρ	Ρ		Ρ	
3.6 Support/ Encourage Adoption of TIM Standards and Policies (I)	0	L	Ρ			L	Ρ	Р		ο	
3.7 Organize/Host GIS Meetings and Events (J)		Ρ			0	L	Ρ	Ρ		0	
3.8 Coordinate and Promote GIS Training and Education (M)		Ρ			0	L	Ρ	Ρ		Ρ	
3.9 Grant Research Application Preparation, and Administration (O)					Ρ	L	Ρ			0	

#### Table 5: Responsibilities for RRC Development and Operation (cont)

	Responsibilities										
	(L=Lead Role, P=Participant/Support, O=Oversight/Approval)										
RRC Development Task	Idaho Geospatial Council and Executive Committee	1GO-GIO	IGC Committees /Working Groups	Regional User Group Leaders	Host Organization Management	RRC Manager	RRC Staff and Volunteers	RRC Members and Users	RRC Service Providers and Associates	RRC Steering Committee	Organizations Providing Funding or In-kind Support
4. DESIGN AND ESTABLISHMENT OF PHASE 3 PROGRAMS AND SERVICES											
4.1 Support Advocacy and Building Awareness of GIS Benefits (E)		L				Ρ	Ρ	Ρ		L	
4.2 Put in place Regional Framework Steward Role (F)		L	Ρ			L	Р	Ρ		Ρ	
4.3 GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update (G)		L	Ρ			Ρ	Р	Ρ		0	
4.4 Organize/Host GIS Meetings and Events (J)		Ρ			0	L	Р	Ρ		0	
4.5 Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement (K)		Ρ	Ρ			L	Ρ	Ρ	Р	0	
4.6 Joint Project Negotiation and Management Support (L)		Ρ	Ρ			L	Р	Ρ	Р	0	
4.7 Provide GIS Training and Education (M)		Ρ			0	L	Р	Ρ		Ρ	
4.8 Hosting GIS Data and Services (P)		Ρ			Р	L	Р				Р
4.9 Web Services, Facilitate Technology Transfer (Q)		Ρ			Р	L	Р		Р		
5. DESIGN AND ESTABLISHMENT OF PHASE 4 PROGRA	MS AN	ND S	ERVIO	CES							
5.1 GIS Professional Labor Pool Management (C)		Imp	leme	ntatic	on not	t likel	y in fo	orese	eable f	future	
5.2 Put in place Regional Framework Steward Role (F)		L	Ρ			L	Р	Ρ		Ρ	
5.3 GIS Data/Metadata Compilation and Update (G) L P P P		Ρ		0							
5.4 Prepare Project Specifications and Support GIS Services Procurement (K)		Ρ	Ρ			L	Ρ	Ρ	Р	ο	
5.5 Provide GIS Training and Education (M)		Ρ			0	L	Р	Ρ		Ρ	
5.6 Hosting GIS Data and Services (P)		Ρ			Р	L	Р		Ρ		Ρ
5.7 GIS Web Services: RRC Carries out Design and Development (Q)		Ρ			Ρ	L	Ρ		Р		
6. PROMOTION, RECRUITMENT, EXTERNAL RELATIONS											
6.1 Design and Set-up Initial RRC Web Page		Р				Ρ	L	Ρ			
6.2 Prepare Promotional Materials		Ρ	Ρ			L	Ρ	Ρ		Ρ	Р
6.3 Carry Out Active Promotion		L				L	L	Ρ		Ρ	Р
6.4 Recruit Initial Members		Р		L		Ρ				L	
6.5 Ongoing Recruitment of Members and Associates	ο	Р		L		Ρ				L	
6.6 Identify RRC members for Participation in IGC Committees and Working Groups						Ρ		Р		L	
6.7 Conduct User Satisfaction/Needs Survey						Ρ		Р		L	
6.8 Process Calls, Requests, and Receive Visitors						Ρ	L				
6.9 Respond to Requests for RRC Services						L	Ρ				

#### Table 5: Responsibilities for RRC Development and Operation (cont)

	<b>Responsibilities</b> (L=Lead Role, P=Participant/Support, O=Oversight/Approval)										
RRC Development Task	Idaho Geospatial Council and Executive Committee	-610	IGC Committees /Working Groups	al User Group s	ganization ment	-	RRC Staff and Volunteers	RRC Members and Users	RRC Service Providers and Associates	RRC Steering Committee	Organizations Providing Funding or In-kind Support
7.1 On-going Staff/Personnel Management					0	L	Р				
7.2 Monitor RRC Time and Finances					0	L	Р				
7.3 Monitor RRC Activities and Service Delivery					0	L	Р				
7.4 Prepare Detailed Management Reports					0	L	Р				
7.5 Prepare Quarterly Status Report					ο	L	Р			Р	
7.6 Schedule and Handle Logistics for RRC Events						Ρ	L	Р	Р	0	
7.7 Set-up Management Structure for New Projects						L	Ρ				
7.8 Periodic Review and Audit of RRC Operations	0					Ρ				L	

#### Table 5: Responsibilities for RRC Development and Operation (cont)

#### 6. FINANCING STRATEGIES AND RRC PROMOTION

#### 6.1 Potential Funding Sources and In-kind Contributions

Table 6 identifies potential sources for funding or non-monetary in-kind contributions (staff time, special services, equipment, software) to support RRC start-up and ongoing operations. At the time of this *Business Plan* completion, specific funding and support sources have not been secured but options have been explored. An important part of RRC implementation is to fully investigate potential sources and get commitments for RRC start-up. The companion document to this plan, "Notes on Investigations about Potential Host Organizations and Outside Support" (<u>http://giscenter.isu.edu/research/Techpg/caprrc/pdf/RRC HostSupportingOrganizationFinal.pdf</u>) explains potential support and funding options and gives a starting point for exploring opportunities.

Funding/Support Source	Description
Standard Fees from	Standard membership fee from RRC member individuals and organizations. This would be an annual fee would be required for membership (and therefore for receiving basic RRC services).
RRC members	<u>Note</u> : Standard fees must be low enough that members will be able to justify this monetary contribution. There must be a perception that a benefit is derived from RRC membership and participation. There is a possibility of adjusting the level of fees by jurisdiction or organization size.
In-kind support from	Non-monetary contributions from an outside source including donated staff time, office space, facilities, computer systems, equipment, etc. already in place by the East Idaho RRC (ISU GIS TreC).
parent/host organization	<u>Note</u> : It is recognized that the host organization (ISU) will have limitations on the level of in-kind contributions that can be provided. It is expected that such in-kind contributions will be more important in early RRC phases and there is a goal to find revenue to reimburse ISU for use of facilities and staff contributions
Existing student intern and co-op programs (with	Use capacity (student labor) that may be available from existing, funded, College/University student co-op and intern programs. The RRC can offer a valuable environment and experience for students with necessary skills that labor on a part-time or full-time basis for an internship period.
existing funds)	Note: This source is dependent on finding unused funds, allocated for student interns that could be used by an RRC at no or low cost.
Volunteer time from participating organizations	It is expected that RRC member and associate organizations will be able to justify allocation of time from their staffs to contribute time and expertise on RRC programs and projects that have a benefit for all member organizations. To fully leverage this in-kind source, the RRC must sustain and active recruitment process and provide information on projects and tasks which need support. Volunteer recruitment for RRC projects must be coordinated with participation in committees and working groups formed by the IGC Executive Committee. Contributions of time will always be on a volunteer basis.
TIM Budget Request	The IGO plans to submit an executive budget request for TIM program activities which includes an allocation of funding for RRCs (for Fiscal Year 2012).
for FY2013 (if appropriated)	Note: This is considered an important source of funding but at this point, there is no certainty that funding will be approved (for FY 2013 or later years).
Grants	Grant funding covers a full range of funding available through grant programs sponsored by state and federal agencies, non-profit/non-governmental organizations or foundation, and private sources. The Idaho GIS community has been successful in receiving and making effective use of federal funding (specifically the FGDC Cap grant program) for GIS related work. There will be continued grant funding opportunities in 2011 from the CAP program and other sources (DHS, IECC) that specifically target GIS development. But there are a large range of other grant programs, which may not specifically cite GIS but which have a major geographic component, and which, potentially, could support RRC projects and services. RRCs could play a role in grant application and administration or the RRC could be a partner in a grant application project with another lead organization (RRC member organization).
	<u>Note</u> : The companion document, "Notes on Investigations about Potential Host Organizations and Outside Support" ( <u>http://giscenter.isu.edu/research/Techpg/caprrc/pdf/RRC_HostSupportingOrganizationFinal.pdf</u> ) gives potential options for grant funding.

#### Table 6: Possible Sources for RRC Funding and In-Kind Contributions

#### Table 6: Possible Sources for RRC Funding and In-Kind Contributions (cont.)

Funding/Support Source	Description
Sponsorship fee from private companies or non- profit organizations	Private companies or non-profit organizations, with an interest in the Idaho GIS community, may be interested in paying sponsorship fees. To leverage this potential source, the RRC would need to establish a formal sponsorship program and solicit contributions.
In-kind Donations by Public or Private Organizations	This includes non-monetary contributions from an outside source which could include donated staff time, computer systems, equipment, software, data license, training, etc.) In-kind donations may or may not have a requirement for the RRC to meet certain terms for accepting the donation. In-kind donations may be solicited by the RRC and offers are evaluated and accepted on a case-by-case basis. The RRC will not accept any in-kind donations that have terms that conflict with the RRC objectives, charter, or any existing agreements that establish terms for RRC operations.
Special fees for	The RRC may provide enhanced services (more than basic RC services) for a fee by those member organizations or users that choose to use such services.
enhanced web GIS hosting and services	Note: There is no strict definition of "enhanced services" but it implies things like data or Web services hosting. This may be most attractive to smaller local government jurisdictions that do not have active GIS programs
Management fee for joint project management	One of the potential RRC services is support in organizing and managing joint projects (e.g., GIS database development project for multiple cities, counties, utility companies, etc.). In this case, project partners would be funding the effort (likely carried out by a private company). A fee, allocated from the project budget, would be allocated to the RRC for its role in any of the following: a) preparation of specifications and RFP, b) managing selection/procurement of services, c) contract negotiation, d) project monitoring and contract management, e) financial management, f) quality assurance. The justification is that economy of scale cost savings for joint projects would be delivered with sound project planning and management
Revenue from Special Projects	This includes any revenue generated from special GIS projects carried out by the RRC. Funding would be provided by any public or private sector organization (in-state or out-of-state). This may be a case in which the RRC leads and carries out the project or just contributes labor, data, or other support to a project managed by another organization Note: To establish a basis for this revenue source, it would be best to establish a fee schedule, basic terms
	for providing services, and do promotion to investigate opportunities. Revenue generation would need to adhere to applicable laws and policies that impact public agency charging fees.
Fees for data compilation and/or regional Framework	Fees would apply for GIS data related work provided by the RRC. This could include data collection or compilation for member organizations (mainly low population local government jurisdictions). In addition, fees from Source Stewards could apply for work carried out by the RRC for assembling, formatting, and submittal of Source Steward Framework data updates—reducing labor required by the original Source Steward.
stewardship support	<u>Note</u> : A potential RRC role as a "Regional Steward" has been noted as a high priority by project participants. Is it reasonable for the RRC to charge fees for this work or is it considered a "basic service" which the RRC should support through other funding sources.
Sale of special GIS products	There is an opportunity for an RRC, or one of its members, to design and create custom products for sale. A "custom product" is considered to be any digital or hardcopy product generated in a "value-added" activity using GIS data and software. This may include custom maps, geographic data extracted and delivered in a non-standard format, etc.
	Note: This is a possibility but must take into account legal limitations on governmental sale of data products and services as well as potential conflicts of competition with private companies.
Agreement with commercial Web- based geospatial services	The potential exists, in the future if not at the present time, to negotiate agreements with companies providing Web-based spatial data and services (Microsoft Bing Maps, Google Earth, and potentially many more that operate on a national or regional basis). There are not currently many precedents for this type of arrangement but as these commercial firms enhance the scope, resolution, and timeliness of data they provide, opportunities may increase. An agreement with commercial service providers would best be organized at the state level (IGO and IGC) but RRCs could participate in providing data and sharing in revenue received.
Recorder fees for special GIS fund	The Idaho SDI Business Plan (2009) identified an action to explore the possibility of establishing a new fee for document recordation (County Recorder) and a special fund from these fees to support GIS development. Several other states have put this type of funding mechanism in place. If this financing strategy was pursued and approved by the State legislature, the IGC and IGO would have a major role in defining terms for use of the funds but it would be acknowledged that a large portion of the funds would be allocated back to local gov'ts for GIS development and operations. RRCs could play a role in ensuring appropriate disbursement of the funds and supporting local jurisdictions in effective use of the funds.

#### 6.2 RRC Budgeting and Financing Strategy

Preparation of RRC budget projections for Phase 1 or subsequent phases is difficult given the uncertainty of potential sources of funding. Phase 1, which begins after *Business Plan* endorsement by the IGC-EC, involves RRC organization and set-up activities. It is assumed that a combination of limited "donated time" by the East Idaho RRC host organization and volunteers will provide staff resources needed for much of the Phase 1 work. In addition, remaining funding of the current CAP Grant (2010 award for RRC business planning) will provide some basic funding to support RRC formation and start-up. The funding uncertainty creates a situation where RRC implementation must be opportunistic. with active fund raising and solicitation of in-kind contributions, programs and services will be put in place, as funding and support is made available and according to priorities and timing explained in this *Business Plan*.

A reasonable annual budget target for the first year of RRC operations, after Phase 1 is complete (mid-year 2011), is \$90,000 with a comparable level of non-monetary in-kind contributions of services or capital. This requires the securing of funds and in-kind support for FY 2011-2012 Subsequent years will require budget expansion if additional RRC programs and services are to be deployed.

Among the potential sources of RRC funding and in-kind support explained in Table 6, initial focus should be placed on the following:

- In-kind support from host organization (ISU) or supporting organization (e.g., INL)
- Volunteer time from participating organizations (particularly by individuals who have active in regional user group activities
- TIM Budget Request for FY2013: will require work with IGO to support ratification of this budget request
- Grant awards—initially the 2011 round of NSDI CAP grants and the potential for a small grant from INL. See companion document, "Notes on Investigations about Potential Host Organizations and Outside Support" (<u>http://giscenter.isu.edu/research/Techpg/caprrc/pdf/RRC HostSupportingOrganizationFinal.pdf</u>)
- Sponsorship fee from private companies or non-profit organizations

#### 6.3 RRC Promotion and Marketing

RRC promotion and marketing is a core administration and management practice identified in Table 4 and Task Series 6 ("Promotion, Recruitment, and External Relations") in the Table 5 (Implementation Steps). Promotion, outreach, and expanding awareness are also important items in the State's TIM (aka "ISDI") *Business Plan* (see Implementation Initiatives under the "Education, Outreach, and Communications" category in Table 6 and Section 5.4). For this reason, RRC promotion should be coordinated with TIM activities and events organized by the IGO, IGC and other RRCs. The objectives of a planned, organized RRC promotion campaign are: a) to increase awareness of the RRC and availability of services, b) to increase membership and level of participation by individuals and organizations, and c) to support fundraising activities. This is particularly important in Phase 1 but is a continuing activity in all phases.

Marketing and promotional activities should use a variety of communication media and channels and should be developed with a clear idea of the message to be delivered and the recipient groups to which the message is being directed (the specific public, private, academic, and non-profit organizations that are potential RRC participants). RRC implementation activities in Task Series 6 (see Table 5) are supported by a number of promotional and outreach approaches and media types including:

- Presentations and briefings at events (GIS conferences, agency meetings, meetings and events sponsored by professional and trade organizations).
- Web page content that explains RRC goals and services and which solicits participation and feedback (including on-line member registration).
- Preparation of "advertising" materials (flyers, brochures) which can be distributed in digital or electronic form.
- Email broadcasts (via the Geotech Listserv or other group message distribution) which provide news and solicits participation.
- Distribution of publications prepared by RRC members.
- Press/Media Releases highlighting RRC projects and accomplishments.